© 2007 Adis Data Information BV. All rights reserved.

Drugs for the Perioperative Control of Hypertension

Current Issues and Future Directions

Robert Feneck

Department of Anaesthesia, Guys and St Thomas' Hospitals, London, England

Contents

	tract
1.	Current Issues
	1.1 Blood Pressure Control Patients with Pre-Existing Hypertension
	1.2 Effects of Hypertension
	1.3 Significance of Perioperative Hypertension
2.	Antihypertensive Drugs
	2.1 General Measures 2027
	2.2 $$ $$ $\!$ $\!$ $\!$ $\!$ $\!$ $\!$ $\!$ $\!$ $\!$ $\!$
	2.3 Antihypertensive Drugs that Act at the Spinal Cord
	2.4 Drugs that Act at Peripheral Receptors
	2.4.1 α -Adrenoceptor Antagonists
	2.4.2 β-Adrenoceptor Antagonists (β-Blockers)
	2.4.3 Agonists at Peripheral Receptors
	2.5 Drugs that Affect Calcium Channels
	2.6 Others
	2.7 Nitric Oxide Donors 2035
	2.7.1 Nitrites
	2.7.2 Nitrates
3.	Future Issues: The Impact of Genomics
4.	Conclusions

Abstract

The management of hypertension continues to pose important challenges. Recent developments have established the importance of more rigorous blood pressure control in the community. In the perioperative setting, hypertension has long been recognised as undesirable, although the adverse impact of high blood pressure on the acute risks of elective surgery may have been previously overstated.

A number of agents and techniques are available to control blood pressure perioperatively. These include principally general and regional anaesthetics, α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists, peripheral α_1 - and β -adrenoceptor antagonists, dihydropyridine calcium channel antagonists, dopamine D_{1A} -receptor agonists (fenoldopam), and nitric oxide donors.

Recent years have seen important developments in the receptor selectivity of new compounds and in pharmacokinetics, particularly esterase metabolism. The

> future study of genomics may enable us to identify patients at risk for hypertension-related adverse events and target therapies most effectively to these high-risk groups.

Haemodynamic control is an essential component of safe perioperative care. The importance of hypertension in the perioperative period has long been recognised and early recommendations for the anaesthetic management of hypertensive patients date from >30 years ago.[1-3] These early studies, constantly reaffirmed in our current daily clinical practice, suggest that in susceptible patients, sympatho-adrenal activation and perioperative hypertension may lead to adverse effects, including myocardial ischaemia and haemorrhage. These adverse events are themselves linked to poor outcomes, yet they can be prevented by good cardiovascular control.

Thus, our understanding of a patient's needs in the perioperative period is even greater today, and fortunately we have numerous drugs and techniques available to deal with them. Good haemodynamic control needs to be achieved throughout the perioperative period, and not surprisingly, successful management in the pre-operative period is often the key to success. However, there are other important factors that may have an impact even in those patients who were normotensive before surgery. Furthermore, if we are to achieve control of blood pressure throughout the perioperative period, we need to be clear about the mechanisms of hypertension so that we can choose the best agents and techniques to address the problem.

This article reviews the current issues related to perioperative hypertension, including the causes and effects of hypertension, the preoperative management of hypertensive patients and the risks involved in anaesthetising patients with high blood pressure preoperatively. Information is given about the available agents for perioperative management, and the role of genomics in identifying those patients at risk and those likely to respond to therapy is explored.

Information for this article was obtained from a number of sources. Evidence-based recommendations were obtained via a literature search from 1970 to 2007 using MEDLINE and the Cochrane Database. Prominence was given to information from randomised controlled trials, meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials and authoritative observational databases, as well as informed consensus opinion from authoritative guidelines. However, other data and opinion from standard texts have been included where it is felt to be both instructive and of interest. Pharmacological information was obtained from randomised controlled trials, metaanalysis and review articles and consensus guidelines, as well as standard texts.

1. Current Issues

1.1 Blood Pressure Control Patients with Pre-Existing Hypertension

The current classification of hypertension as recommended by the Joint National Committee for Hypertension is shown in table I.[4] There are a number of features in the classification of hypertension that have changed in recent years. For example:

- in individuals aged >50 years, systolic blood pressure (SBP) of >140mm Hg is a much more important cardiovascular disease risk factor than diastolic blood pressure (DBP);
- the risk of cardiovascular disease, beginning at 115/75mm Hg, doubles with each increment of 20/10mm Hg;

Table I. Classification of blood pressure for adults[4]

Classification	SBP (mm Hg)	DBP (mm Hg)		
Normal	<120	and <80		
Pre-hypertension	120-139	or 80–89		
Stage 1 hypertension	140-159	or 90–99		
Stage 2 hypertension	>160	or >100		
DRP = diastolic blood pressure: SRP = systolic blood pressure				

- individuals who are normotensive at 55 years of age have a 90% lifetime risk for developing hypertension;
- individuals with a SBP of 120–139mm Hg or a DBP of 80–89mm Hg should be considered as pre-hypertensive and require health-promoting lifestyle modifications to prevent cardiovascular disease.

Recommendations were also made for the institution of antihypertensive therapy. Although these are not the subject of this article, the tighter control inherent in the new requirements and the treatment recommendations will result in more patients taking antihypertensive therapy when presenting in the perioperative setting.

Thus, target blood pressures for patients in the community have been set that are significantly lower than previously recommended, [4] and these targets have been validated by observed reductions in the morbidity and mortality from hypertensive disease in the community. [5] It is not clear whether the achievement of such lower values will significantly affect the risk either of developing perioperative hypertension or more importantly reduce those adverse outcomes associated with it.

1.2 Effects of Hypertension

The causative mechanism for hypertension remains poorly understood. No single or specific cause is usually found in up to 95% of patients presenting with significantly raised blood pressure. Thus, primary or essential hypertension may result from a complex interaction of renal, neurogenic, endocrine and cardiovascular factors, particularly alterations in the activity of the vascular endothelium. Many of these may be influenced by genetic variability.

A number of specific conditions may also be responsible:

- chronic kidney disease;
- coarctation of the aorta;
- Cushings syndrome and other glucocorticoid excess states including long-term corticosteroid therapy;
- drug induced or drug related;

- obstructive uropathy;
- phaeochromocytoma;
- primary aldosteronism and other mineralocorticoid excess states;
- renovascular hypertension;
- sleep apnoea;
- thyroid or parathyroid disease.

These causes of secondary hypertension are important since they may have implications for other aspects of perioperative care.

Of much greater importance are the effects of hypertension, particularly when long standing, and the association of other conditions that may precipitate significant problems in the perioperative period.

Clearly, renal disease may be associated both with the development of high blood pressure and adverse effects resulting from established hypertension. Long-standing hypertension has been associated with an increased incidence of renal dysfunction, and numerous studies have identified renal dysfunction as a determinant for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, [6,7] and an outcome determinant for patients undergoing cardiac [8-10] and noncardiac surgery. [11-13]

Hypertension has a significant adverse effect on the autoregulation of blood flow in many vascular beds including the cerebral circulation, where the curve is shifted to the right. As a result, a fall in blood pressure may result in a reduction in cerebral blood greater than would be seen in normotensive individuals.^[14]

Hypertension represents a significant increase in left ventricular afterload, which may lead to left ventricular hypertrophy and, in due course, to left ventricular dilatation and failure. [15] The association between hypertension and the development of coronary artery disease is well documented, and the association between coronary artery disease and adverse perioperative outcomes has been similarly extensively documented. [16-18]

1.3 Significance of Perioperative Hypertension

Those patients with significantly raised blood pressure preoperatively will be more likely to need

blood pressure control in the intraoperative and postoperative period. [19] In cardiac surgery, even isolated systolic hypertension has been shown to be associated with adverse outcomes, [20] including an increased risk of bleeding and blood transfusion. [21]

For others, does perioperative hypertension really matter? That is, do isolated perioperative readings of blood pressure even to the level of stage 3 hypertension require acute treatment with antihypertensive drugs?

The association between hypertension and adverse outcomes from surgery has been the subject of numerous studies. Early studies noted that anaesthesia in the patient with poorly controlled hypertension was associated with an increase in haemodynamic lability and an increased risk of myocardial ischaemia, and thus noted that "untreated high arterial pressure constitutes a serious risk to patients undergoing anaesthesia and surgery", and concluded that symptom-free patients with high initial arterial pressures who are exposed to anaesthesia should be started on antihypertensive therapy.^[1] Later studies failed to establish that pre-existing hypertension was a major preoperative cardiac risk factor unless the DBP exceeded 110mm Hg.[22-25] More recently, a large systematic review and meta-analysis concluded that there is little evidence for an association between admission arterial pressures of <180mm Hg systolic or <110mm Hg diastolic and perioperative complications.^[26] Although there is little evidence that isolated systolic hypertension is a risk factor in non-cardiac surgery, it frequently occurs in the adult population, and 'white-coat hypertension' is more common amongst females and accounts for a high proportion of abnormal blood pressure measurements in the clinic.[27,28] Using a conservative definition of white-coat hypertension, observations suggest that the rate of cardiovascular events in white-coat hypertension is little different to that seen in normotensive individuals, but that when a more liberal definition and higher ambulatory pressure is selected, adverse event rates increase.[29] There are few data on the incidence of white-coat hypertension in the perioperative setting.

The guidelines issued by the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association (ACC/AHA) on perioperative cardiac risk and hypertension suggest that a SBP of <180mm Hg and DBP of <110mm Hg is not an independent risk necessitating control before, and hence delay of, surgery. However, they suggest that patients with pressures above these levels should have them controlled before surgery, when necessary rapid control may be achieved intravenously and that β -adrenoceptor antagonists (β -blockers) are attractive drugs for this purpose. [30]

Others have suggested that the evidence for delaying surgery in uncomplicated hypertension even to the level of stage 3 (>180/110mm Hg) is weak, [26,31,32] particularly if there is no evidence of end-organ damage.

More complex conditions associated with moderate hypertension have not yet been comprehensively evaluated. For example, the association between the metabolic syndrome (hyperlipdaemia, central adiposity, diabetes mellitus and hypertension) in the absence of symptoms of coronary artery or cerebrovascular disease and adverse perioperative outcomes has not been clearly evaluated, although patients with this condition undergoing surgery may pose a number of problems for physicians perioperatively. [33]

Thus, we can conclude that elective surgery need not be delayed in patients with a SBP of <180mm Hg and a DBP of <110mm Hg, but that readings greater than these levels should be cause for caution and concern. Pre-operative control may be wise, particularly if there is evidence of endorgan damage, and enhanced monitoring, for example, intra-arterial blood pressure monitoring may be necessary to guard against the development of intraoperative haemodynamic lability. The patient's blood pressure should be kept within 20% of the baseline value; [26,30] this value itself may be considered excessive in certain types of surgery, further suggesting the value of delaying surgery to achieve preoperative blood pressure control.

Even so, perioperative hypertension should not be ignored. Elevated blood pressure readings

Table II. Commonly	used drugs for	perioperative blood pressure (BP) control
Drug	Onset (min)	Dose

Drug	Onset (min)	Dose	Comments
Esmolol	1–2	500 μg/kg/min for 4 min, then 150–200 μg/kg/min IV	Ultrashort-acting cardioselective β-adrenoceptor antagonist
Metoprolol	2–3	1-5mg IV	Cardioselective β-adrenoceptor antagonist
Labetalol	3–6	20mg IV bolus every 5 min, repeated as required or infusion 2 mg/min	$\alpha\text{-}$ and $\beta\text{-}adrenoceptor}$ antagonist
Propranolol	3–5	1mg IV	Non-cardioselective $\beta\mbox{-adrenoceptor}$ antagonist. CNS penetration
Atenolol	5	5mg IV repeated	Cardioselective β -adrenoceptor antagonist. Long acting
Nifedipine	8-12	1.5–3 μg/kg/min	Dihydropyridine calcium channel antagonist
Nicardipine	5-10	5-15 mg/h IV in 70kg adult	Dihydropyridine calcium channel antagonist
Isradipine	5-10	0.5–1.0 μg/kg/min	Dihydropyridine calcium channel antagonist
Fenoldopam	3–6	0.03–0.1 μg/kg/min	Synthetic selective dopamine receptor agonist
Sodium nitroprusside	<1	1–2 μg/kg/min IV	Cyanide toxicity if dosage excessive
Glyceryl trinitrate	2–5	10-50 μg/min IV	Bolus may be needed initially to control BP
Hydralazine	5–1	2.5-5.0mg IV	Long acting

throughout the perioperative period should be carefully evaluated taking into account the patient's usual resting blood pressure, the duration and severity of the hypertension, the nature of the surgery and, in particular, the risks of postoperative haemorrhage, the patient's status regarding other cardiovascular risk factors, and the presence of other precipitating factors including pain and anxiety. Failure to take note of these criteria may lead to the excessive use of antihypertensive drugs, possible adverse or untoward effects from such drugs or over-active control of blood pressure leading to reductions in vital organ perfusion.

2. Antihypertensive Drugs

2.1 General Measures

Those patients who are treated for pre-existing hypertension will be taking a variety of drugs that have important effects in the anaesthetised patient. Those managing the patient may be able to make use of these effects to facilitate their perioperative care. The importance of general measures in controlling perioperative hypertension cannot be overstated. Hypertension occurring during surgery is most properly managed by attention to the adequacy of analgesia and anaesthesia. The antihypertensive effects of modern volatile anaesthetics are frequently used first to control blood pressure before any specific therapy is given.^[19] In the perioperative period, hypoxia and hypercapnia may be associated with sympathoadrenal activation and high blood pressure may result. This should be excluded or treated appropriately before specific antihypertensive therapy is given. Similar considerations should be given to perioperative pain and anxiety. In patients receiving analgesia via the epidural route, additional top up may be particularly successful in resolving both pain and elevated blood pressure.

The drugs commonly used for perioperative blood pressure control are listed in table II and the properties of the ideal drug for the purpose are listed below:

- easy to prepare, stable at ambient temperature and light;
- given by continuous intravenous infusion;
- compatible with a range of diluents;
- easily titratable, with rapid onset and short duration of action;
- free of untoward or undesirable effects:
- other non-cardiovascular effects should be desirable and have a ceiling;

- free of effects on intracardiac conduction;
- mild reduction in myocardial contractility;
- vasodilator effects should be mostly confined to the arteriolar bed (i.e. resistance vessels);
- vasodilator effects preferentially in vital organ vascular beds, e.g. coronary, renal splanchnic;
- effective treatment should maximise protective effects against complications of hypertension, i.e. myocardial ischaemia.

Many of the desirable features listed are self-explanatory. Chemical stability and compatibility are obviously desirable. The intravenous route is preferable since bioavailability is 100% and the onset of action is quicker than by other routes. Adverse and toxic effects should be at a minimum. Many of the drugs discussed in this section meet some of the desirable criteria listed above but none meet them all.

In perioperative hypertension, therapy should be directed towards correcting the physiological abnormality. This is most frequently related to sympathoadrenal activation, resulting in an increase in resting arteriolar tone, venoconstriction with reduced pooling of venous blood, and an enhanced inotropic state. Logically, appropriate therapy would result in arteriolar dilatation, a mild reduction in venous tone and a mild to moderate reduction in contractility.

The availability of suitable drugs may also vary between different countries. A comprehensive list of drugs is available from numerous standard texts on pharmacology. Those agents and techniques that are currently of interest and widely, though not universally, available are discussed in sections 2.2–2.6.

$2.2~\alpha_2$ -Adrenoceptor Agonists/Imidazole Receptor Agonists

 α_2 -Adrenoceptor agonists possess properties of sedation, analgesia and blood pressure control, which may be relevant to the period before, during and after surgery.

Adrenoceptors have been the subject of extensive study since Ahlquist's classification into α - and β -receptors in 1948.^[34] Lands et al.^[35] and Langer^[36] have since identified the α - and β -subtypes, and further subfamilies of α -adrenoceptors have been

identified including three α -adrenoceptor subtypes in mammals, but as many as 14 subtypes in other species, such as the pufferfish.^[37]

Adrenoceptors are seven-stranded G-proteinlinked cell membrane receptors, of between 415 and 480 amino acids in length. [38] Ligand binding studies suggest that the fourth domain of the seven-stranded α2-adrenoceptor is linked to the ligand. [39] α2-Adrenoceptors are linked to Gi protein, thus activation of the α₂-adrenoceptor in the CNS will cause activation of Gi protein, which will inhibit adenylyl cyclase leading to a reduction in the generation of cyclic 3'5' cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP). However, the activated α-adrenoceptors also produces its effects by other mechanisms including decrease in calcium entry into nerve channels, a reduction in phosphatidyl inositol metabolism and possibly by inhibition of ganglionic transmission. [40] Activated Gi proteins may also activate a variety of ion channels including potassium channels in the cell membrane.[41]

 α_2 -Adrenoceptors in the CNS appear to be primarily situated in the loecus coerulus located bilaterally in the floor of the fourth ventral. This site has afferent connections to the rostral ventrolateral medullary nuclei, and efferent connections to noradrenergic fibres that connect to the thalamus and elsewhere. In addition, high densities of α_2 -adrenoceptors have been shown to be present in human intermediolateral cell columns and the substantia gelatinosa.

Early experimental work revealed that in contrast to the catecholamines, imidazoline compounds produced hypotension following direct intramedullary injection. These observations led to the proposal of non-adrenergic receptors specifically recognising imidazoline-like compounds located in the reticularis lateralis of the ventrolateral medulla. Two types of imidazoline receptors have since been identified (i) imidazoline I_1 -receptors located in the brain; and (ii) I_2 -receptors located in brain, pancreas and kidney. Many α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists have activity at I_1 -receptors. I_1 -receptor activity appears to be associated with centrally mediated vasodilation and hypotension. Although not fully eluci-

dated, it appears that I₁-receptor agonists mediate their effects through a G-protein-linked mechanism resulting in an increase in arachidonic acid and the subsequent release of prostacyclins.

Recent developments of I_1 -receptor agonists with a reduced level of α_2 -adrenoceptors have resulted in drugs with a cleaner haemodynamic profile. Moxonidine^[45] and rilmenidine^[46] are the prototypes of this new class of centrally acting antihypertensives. Both drugs have a much weaker affinity for central α -adrenoceptors than clonidine and methyldopa, and the adverse-effects profile of the I_1 -receptor agonists is significantly better.

Clonidine has since been shown to reduce the minimal alveolar concentrations of anaesthetic drugs.^[47-49] Dexmedetomidine has also been shown to be effective in reducing minimum alveolar concentration (MAC),^[50,51] and may be an anaesthetic in its own right, suggesting a more complex mechanism of action.

The cardiovascular effects of α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists are typified by clonidine and are best described as a biphasic response. At lower doses, the predominant effect is sympatholysis mediated by agonist activity at the α_2 -adrenoceptor. At higher doses, a peripherally mediated hypertensive effect is seen as a result of activation of α_{2B} -adrenoceptors, thought to be located on smooth muscle cells in arteriolar vessels. This biphasic effect may be demonstrated in the initial dose administration stage of treating patients with α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists, as a result of early short-acting peripherally mediated vasoconstriction preceding a long-lasting centrally mediated antihypertensive effect. [40]

Although clonidine clearly has blood pressure lowering properties, the majority of clinical studies that highlight its cardiovascular effects are concerned with sympatholytic effects rather than simple blood pressure lowering. Clonidine has been shown to improve circulatory stability including heart rate control and baroreflex activity. [52] Despite early studies questioning the benefit of prophylactic sympatholysis with clonidine, more recent data have suggested that perioperative administration of clonidine to patients at risk for coronary artery disease

significantly reduces the incidence of perioperative myocardial ischaemia and postoperative death.^[53-56]

Dexmedetomidine is an isomer of medetomidine, and has greater selectivity and specificity for α2adrenoceptors than clonidine.[57] It produces clinically significant effects at plasma concentrations of <1.0 ng/mL and has complex pharmacokinetics, which are concentration-dependent but non-linear. It has been extensively studied in humans, particularly in the setting of sedation in the intensive-care unit (ICU).[58-60] In this setting, its properties of providing sedation, analgesia without respiratory depression (albeit with a clear ceiling effect) and sympatholysis with effective blood pressure control would appear to be highly desirable. Dexmedetomidine in the ICU or post-anaesthesia-care unit is associated with a mild reduction in blood pressure, such as would be required for good haemodynamic control following surgery, and studies before and after surgery suggest a blood pressure controlling effect.[61,62] Intravenous administration should be undertaken with care as the biphasic effect on blood pressure may be seen, but most studies have shown this to be a manageable and transient effect. However, there are no data yet to suggest that α2-adrenoceptor agonists in general, or dexmedetomidine in particular, would be useful for the rapid control of blood pressure required for the management of perioperative hypertension.

Mivazerol is an imidazoline compound that has been studied primarily in the setting of perioperative sympatholysis. There have been no studies designed to evaluate the place of mivazerol in the setting of perioperative hypertension. However, in common with other α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists, mivazerol has been shown to be useful as a sympatholytic in patients undergoing high-risk surgery. [63-65]

Thus α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists, particularly those with I₁-receptor activity, provide a highly desirable 'package' of effects (analgesia, sedation and sympatholysis) and should feature prominently in future protocols for perioperative blood pressure control. However, their effectiveness at controlling acute severe systemic hypertension has not been studied and, given the biphasic effect on blood pres-

sure seen, it may be that other agents will be preferable for this purpose.

2.3 Antihypertensive Drugs that Act at the Spinal Cord

Local anaesthetics, μ -opioid receptor agonists and α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists have all been used in spinal techniques. Local anaesthetics may directly reduce vascular tone when given by the intrathecal or epidural route as a result of their effect in blocking nerve impulses in the sympathetic chain.

The sympathetic trunk receives preganglionic fibres from T1–T12. These are lightly myelinated B fibres and hence are more easily blocked than the larger heavily myelinated A fibres involved in sensory and motor transmission. One practical result is that sympathetic blockade is usually more extensive and, in particular higher, than sensory or motor block.

An epidural block to the level of T6 or above will produce vasodilatation and a reduction in peripheral resistance. A block up to the level of T2 may block cardiac accelerator nerves producing both vasodilatation and bradycardia. Under these circumstances, vasodilatation may be severe. Reduction in venous tone and hence venous return may also significantly reduce cardiac output.

The drugs that are commonly used for spinal techniques are bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine. Their pharmacology has been extensively described elsewhere.^[66]

Spinal, and particularly epidural techniques, are widely used in the perioperative period both for intraoperative and postoperative pain control, with the additional benefit of providing control of blood pressure through sympathetic blockade. When the block is extensive, widespread vasodilation and bradycardia may produce an adverse combination of low blood pressure and low cardiac output. Thus, it is commonplace to preload the circulation with intravenous fluids and to have peripherally acting vasopressors available for immediate use.

The rapid and occasionally unpredictable onset of hypotension has meant that spinal anaesthetic techniques are rarely used as a means of controlling acute severe hypertension. Rather, they are used in the perioperative period in order to provide analgesia and circulatory control, as part of a package in a manner similar to that provided by the α2-adrenoceptor agonists, and many have commented on their value. [67-69] However, there are clinical and organisational issues that may make them less attractive. Epidurals are obviously more invasive, and their safe use in the hypertensive vasoconstricted patient is more challenging. Inadvertent spinal anaesthesia is a rare, but serious, complication and despite published successes, [70,71] many institutions still insist on managing patients with indwelling epidural catheters in a more highly staffed area for safety reasons. This either limits their duration of effective use or significantly increases the resources necessary for their prolonged postoperative use.

Although there have been numerous studies comparing epidural, spinal and general anaesthetic techniques in a variety of surgical settings, most studies have looked at a number of aspects rather than concentrate on cardiovascular control. Most individual studies have been inadequately powered for cardiovascular safety analyses. A recent meta-analysis suggesting a beneficial effect of neuroaxial blockade^[72] has been challenged^[26,73] and the current situation is still somewhat confused.

2.4 Drugs that Act at Peripheral Receptors

2.4.1 \alpha-Adrenoceptor Antagonists

Adrenergic α - and β -receptors are all sevenstranded G-protein-linked receptors, which, when activated, result in a conformation change in the Gprotein complex leading to activation of second messengers. The G-protein linkage with adrenoceptors varies according to subtype. Compared with α_2 adrenoceptors, the α_1 -adrenoceptor is linked to Gq protein. Ligands or drugs binding to this receptor produce activation of Gq proteins, which in turn leads to activation of phospholipase C and the conversion of phosphoinositol diphosphate to diacyl glycerol and inositol triphosphate, which leads in turn to an increase in intracellular calcium within smooth muscle cells, leading to vasoconstriction. [74] Thus α_1 -adrenoceptor antagonists will inhibit this process, leading to vasodilatation.

 α_1 -Adrenoceptor antagonists can be divided into selective (doxazosin, indoramin, prazosin, terazosin) and non-selective (phentolamine, phenoxybenzamine) compounds. For acute perioperative blood pressure control, these drugs have their limitations. Only phentolamine and phenoxybenzamine are available for intravenous injection, and although prazosin is certainly effective when given orally, the lack of an injectable preparation has obvious disadvantages.

Phenoxybenzamine combines irreversibly with the α_1 -adrenoceptor and thus has a profoundly long duration of action. Its use has been described in the setting of resistant severe hypertension, especially associated with phaeocromocytoma and usually in combination with a β -blocker. [75-77]

Phentolamine has also been used in the setting of phaeochromocytoma, [77] but is usually used as a short-term treatment for perioperative vaso-constriction and hypertension. Tachyphylaxis, reflex tachycardia and increased circulating norad-renaline (norepinephrine) levels make it difficult to use for prolonged blood pressure control in the perioperative period, but it is commonly used as a vasodilator in special circumstances such as cardio-pulmonary bypass, where the effects mentioned in the previous paragraph have less of an impact. Although the effective dose may be very variable, it is rare to need more than 1mg intravenously at a time, although repeated administration may be necessary.

2.4.2 β-Adrenoceptor Antagonists (β-Blockers)

 β -Blockers are used in the perioperative setting in the manner described in the following subsections.

As a Continuation of Existing Antihypertensive Therapy

Despite their widespread clinical application, the antihypertensive mechanism of action of long-term $\beta\text{-blocker}$ therapy is not fully understood. Previously, $\beta\text{-blockers}$ were considered essential first-line drugs in the management of hypertension in the community, but recent data have thrown this into question and highlighted the value of calcium chan-

nel blockade and ACE inhibition as an alternatives. [78-80]

However, patients taking β -blockers long term should not have these withdrawn before surgery, [81] and continued use of β -blockers may have beneficial effects on the incidence of perioperative hypertension, [82-84] as well as atrial fibrillation, [85-87] and adverse myocardial outcomes. [83-87] Recent guidelines suggest that β -blockers should be continued in patients who are receiving such therapy to treat angina, arrhythmias, hypertension or other ACC/AHA Class I guideline indications. [30]

As a Prophylactic Treatment to Reduce Perioperative Complications

The perioperative use of prophylactic β -blockers has been the subject of much research and controversy. However, this has been concerned with their role in limiting adverse cardiovascular events, including arrhythmia,[85-87] adverse neurological events, [88] and adverse myocardial outcomes including perioperative myocardial ischaemia and infarction, in patients at risk from these events. [89-97] However, despite the significant amount of evidence and opinion supportive of their use, some questions remain. The reliability of the evidence in favour has been questioned[98,99] and others have noted that while β-blockers may reduce adverse events in the highest risk patients, those patients at reduced risk receive no benefit and may even experience worse outcomes than controls.[93] The importance of tight heart rate control has been convincingly advocated^[100,101] as has the use of longer-acting β-blockers to ensure effective cover during the perioperative period.[102] Although guidelines recommend perioperative β-blockade most strongly in patients undergoing vascular surgery, other patients at high cardiac risk and undergoing intermediate- or highrisk procedures receive qualified support for βblockade.[103] A recent meta-analysis suggests only limited benefit in patients undergoing either cardiac or non-cardiac surgery.[104]

Most authorities agree that some patients will show some benefit from perioperative β -blockade, but which patients, which β -blocker, administered for how long and producing what level of clinical

benefit are all questions that the current literature is not yet able to fully resolve. [105-107] The relationship between any such benefit and the presence of pre-existing hypertension with and without organ damage is not clear.

As Treatment for Hypertension in the Perioperative Period

The role of β -blockers as active treatment for perioperative hypertension is both well established and relatively straightforward. β₁-Blockers will reduce heart rate and contractile power and, therefore, tend to reduce blood pressure. The choice of βblocker is likely to be guided by pharmacokinetic considerations including the speed of onset, duration of action and the presence of effects other than β₁adrenoceptor antagonism. β2-Blocker activity may provoke adverse effects including bronchospasm, which, in a patient either during surgery or recovering from anaesthesia, are potentially hazardous. CNS penetration, a recognised feature of propanolol, is unlikely to be useful since sedation and anxiolysis may be provided by other means. However, activity at other receptors may be highly desirable and labetalol, a drug combining α- and βreceptor antagonist activity, has proved extremely useful in the management of perioperative hypertension.[108-110]

Pharmacokinetic considerations may significantly influence the choice of agent. Despite the continued use of propranolol in some quarters, esmolol, metoprolol, atenolol and labetalol are the most commonly used intravenous β -blockers for perioperative β -blockade for blood pressure control.

Esmolol is 60% protein bound and undergoes renal excretion. It has a half life of ≈9 minutes because of its rapid metabolism by esterase hydrolysis. [111] As a result, esmolol has been used in the management of acute hypertensive events at induction and endotracheal intubation, [112,113] during surgery, [114,115] during emergence and endotracheal extubation, [116,117] and during the postoperative period both as prophylaxis and as therapy.

Metoprolol is a cardioselective compound and thus carries a substantially reduced risk of adverse events related to β_2 -receptor blockade. Intra-

venously, 1–5mg may be given for blood pressure control with the initial dose usually at the lower range. An effect is usually seen within 2–3 minutes and may last for up to 4 hours. [111] As with most β-adrenoceptor antagonists, metoprolol is particularly effective in patients with perioperative hypertension complicated by tachycardia. Metoprolol alone may not be effective, but by blocking the reflex tachycardia seen after administration of vasodilators, metoprolol may potentiate their effect. The PR interval and width of the QRS complex should be monitored for disorders of intracardiac conduction as with all β-blockers.

Atenolol has an elimination half-life of ≈6 hours. It is weakly protein bound and is excreted almost exclusively by the kidneys. The slower onset of action may make atenolol less appropriate for the perioperative treatment of hypertension. However, data in non-cardiac surgery have suggested a valuable effect in cardiovascular risk reduction^[97] and more recent analysis suggests that its prolonged duration of effect may make it more suitable than metoprolol in managing perioperative cardiovascular risk.^[102]

Propranolol is a non-selective β -blocker with strong membrane-stabilising properties and weak intrinsic sympathomimetic activity. It is highly lipophilic with effective transport across the blood brain barrier. It is extensively metabolised by the liver and has a half-life of 3–4 hours. Because of the nature of the perioperative period, propranolol is now rarely used for acute perioperative hypertension since other more modern drugs are preferred. In a recent study where the choice of perioperative β -blocker was left open to the physician, only 1% of patients received propranolol compared with 60% receiving metoprolol and 39% receiving atenolol. [118]

Labetalol has selective, competitive, α_1 -adrenoceptor blocking and non-selective, competitive, β -adrenoceptor blocking activity. In humans, the ratio of α : β blockade has been estimated to be approximately 1:7 following intravenous administration, compared with a ratio of 1:3 following oral administration. [119] β_2 -Adrenoceptor agonist activity has been demonstrated in animals, thus potentiating

a vasodilator effect. There is also experimental evidence of a membrane-stabilising effect. Intravenous labetalol has been shown to prolong atrio-ventricular nodal conduction time in common with other β -blockers and prolongs the atrial effective refractory period also. The effects on atrio-ventricular nodal refractoriness were inconsistent.

Labetalol may be given both by bolus administration and by continuous infusion. It has been shown to be more effective than esmolol for perioperative hypertension^[120] and is effective either by bolus administration or by continuous infusion. ^[108] Its use has been described in a variety of settings. ^[109,110]

2.4.3 Agonists at Peripheral Receptors

Dopaminergic agonists are effective at dopaminergic receptors, and may cause splanchnic, cerebral and coronary vasodilatation when given intravenously. Dopamine, the parent compound, is also active at α - and β -adrenoceptors in a dose-dependent manner and is, therefore, unsuitable for blood pressure control. Dopexamine possesses β_2 -adrenoceptor agonism in addition to dopamine D_{1A} -receptor agonism, and is also not suitable for blood pressure control.

Fenoldopam is a synthetic dopaminergic agonist without agonist adrenergic effects, although there is evidence of a mild α-adrenoceptor blocking effect and it may be particularly suited to controlling blood pressure in the perioperative period.[121-123] Initially studied in the setting of chronic heart failure, it became clear that fenoldopam was able to control blood pressure in a variety of settings including severe or malignant hypertension,[124-126] as well as perioperative hypertension. Both the renal and cardiac effects of fenoldopam compared favourably with other compounds, including nifedipine^[123] and sodium nitroprusside.[122,125-127] Fenoldopam does not cross the blood-brain barrier and is a selective agonist at peripheral D_{1A}-receptors. Vascular effects include dilatation primarily of the renal, mesenteric and coronary vasculature.[128] There is also an increase in glomerular filtration rate and an increase in sodium and water excretion. Fenoldopam undergoes hepatic conjugation with no active metabolites and no adverse effects on cytochrome P450 isoenzymes. [129]

Fenoldopam is available in the US and some European countries, and it is to be hoped that a license for use throughout the EU will be available in due course. It is recommended for use for up to 48 hours for the acute or emergency control of blood pressure, and would appear to be one of a small number of vasodilators with a highly favourable profile for use in the perioperative period. [130] Studies of patients at risk from renal injury have so far not revealed consistent results. [131-133]

2.5 Drugs that Affect Calcium Channels

A number of calcium channels have been identified in humans, and of these the most important in the vasculature are the L-type channels, typified by a long-lasting effect. Blockade of calcium channels reduces the inward flow of calcium into the cell. In the myocardium, this may result in a reduction in calcium-facilitated calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum and a down-shift in inotropic state. This may be relevant in patients requiring antihypertensive medication in the perioperative period, but it does not account for the primary mechanism of action. In vascular smooth muscle, calcium channel blockade and the resulting reduction in calcium influx into the smooth muscle cell will result in an inhibition of vasoconstriction and the resulting vasorelaxation causes the blood pressure to fall.[134]

There are three classes of calcium channel antagonists (i) the phenylalkylamines (verapamil); (ii) the dihydropyridine receptor antagonists (nifedipine, nimodipine, isradipine, amlodipine, nicardipine, clevidipine); and (iii) the benzothiapines (diltiazem). All three classes have drugs that are available as an injectable formulation. Verapamil is more appropriately used as an antiarrhythmic agent. Diltiazem has been recommended as an antiarrhythmic drug^[85,135] and is also used effectively in the management of angina pectoris.

The dihydropyridine calcium channel antagonists are primarily systemic vasodilators and are particularly useful for the management of perioperative

hypertension. A number of compounds are available as injectable formulations, although their geographic availability varies markedly.

Dihydropyridines interact with the dihydropyridine receptor on the L- or T-type calcium channel, suggesting that an endogenous vasopressor might have an effect at this site. [136] The effect of blocking this receptor is to render the channel more likely to be in the closed state, with resultant reduction in calcium influx and vasodilatation.

The effects of dihydropyridine antagonists have been studied in a number of perioperative settings, including cardiac surgery. [137-143] Systemic and coronary vascular resistance are reduced, blood pressure falls, cardiac filling pressures are maintained, and cardiac and stroke output are increased. The lack of venodilatation and thus maintenance of preload is responsible for increasing stroke output and preserving pulmonary artery and pulmonary capillary wedge pressure. However, in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension, there is evidence to suggest a therapeutically useful pulmonary vasodilator effect. [144,145]

Experimental studies have suggested that dihydropyridines have a mild negative inotropic effect. In humans, this is usually modified by sympathetic activation so that the overall effect seen is neutral or a mild increase in inotropy. However, detailed analysis has revealed a negative inotropic effect.^[146]

Isradipine, nicardipine and nifedipine are used as systemic vasodilators. Clearly, the intravenous route of administration is preferable. Intranasal nifedipine has been described as safe and effective, although it should be noted that the patients under study were mostly those with treated hypertension with poor control of DBP preoperatively. [147] In contrast, Varon and Marik [148] have condemned the use of sublingual nifedipine for hypertensive emergencies and 'pseudo-emergencies', and others have called for a moratorium on its use for safety reasons. [149] Many of the adverse reports refer to the use of sublingual nifedipine in unmonitored patients presenting as hypertensive emergencies or urgencies. [148] Despite numerous anecdotal reports of the

safe use of intranasal nifedipine in the perioperative setting, it is the author's practice to avoid sublingual or intranasal nifedipine for perioperative blood pressure control.

Other compounds have also been described. Nimodipine appears to have effects largely confined to the cerebral circulation and has been reserved for cerebral vasospasm.^[150] Clevidipine is a new compound with an ultrashort duration of action due to its metabolism by tissue esterases in a similar manner to esmolol. Clevidipine has a half-life of ≈1 minute in cardiac surgery patients^[151] and a context-sensitive half-time is <2 minutes for up to 12 hours of administration.^[152] Infusions of clevidipine have been shown to produce pharmacodynamic effects similar to the other dihydropyridines described earlier.^[137,140]

2.6 Others

There are a number of other classes of drugs that have vasodilator effects, although they have not become established for perioperative blood pressure control.

Phosphodiesterase (PDE) inhibitors have shown a direct vasorelaxant effect, as well as an inotropic effect. In the vasculature, the increase in 3'5' cAMP leads to phosphorylation of light chain kinase. This results in a reduction of its affinity for the calciumcalmodulin complex and dephosphorylation of myosin light chains and leads to vasodilatation. PDE also hydrolyses cyclic guanosine monophosphate, which may also contribute to the vasodilator effect.[153] However, PDE type 3 inhibitors have not been widely used for blood pressure control, partly because they are more commonly used as inotropic agents. Nonetheless, many studies have reported a fall in systemic vascular resistance and a small but insignificant fall in blood pressure following intravenous milrinone. In one study, in patients following cardiac surgery, milrinone caused a reduction in elevated blood pressure but not a further reduction in normal or low blood pressure.^[154] This may make the drug suitable for use in the setting of perioperative hypertension associated with a low output state, for example, and in the perioperative patient with hypertensive heart failures provided suitable attention is paid to fluid balance.

ACE inhibitors will reduce the generation of angiotensin-II and thus reduce the effects of vaso-constriction, aldosterone secretion and sympathetic activation. All of these actions contribute to the development of hypertension. Angiotensin-II-receptor antagonists act by binding to specific membrane-bound receptors that displace angiotensin-II from the angiotensin type 1- receptor subtype (AT₁). Therefore, these drugs function as selective blockers. Angiotensin-II pressor effects are mediated by AT₁-receptors, found predominately in vascular and myocardial tissue, the liver, the zona glomerulosa in the adrenal cortex and in some areas of the brain.

Both of these groups of drugs have been shown to be highly effective in the management of chronic hypertension and chronic heart failure, and many high-risk surgical patients may be taking either ACE inhibitors or angiotensin-receptor antagonists preoperatively. Should patients receiving either type of drug discontinue their medication before routine surgery, and if so will they be more likely to need further treatment to control blood pressure in the perioperative period?

Early studies suggested that continuation of ACE inhibitors and inhibitors up to the day of surgery was associated with an unacceptable degree of hypotension on induction of anaesthesia. Although this may be successfully managed with crystalloid transfusion, occasionally vasopressor treatment is necessary, and this in turn may be more complex as a result of variable responsiveness to α-adrenoceptor agonists.[155] Thus, the initial recommendation was to discontinue treatment at least 24 hours preoperatively, [156,157] more recently modified to 10 hours. In addition, hypotension and difficulty in weaning from cardiopulmonary bypass was also noted, presumably as a result of the accumulation of bradykinin, a compound normally metabolised by ACE, resulting from the inflammatory cascade induced by cardiopulmonary bypass.[158] Other work has challenged these recommendations, [159] although some centres still recommend withdrawing ACE inhibitors in the days before cardiac surgery.[160]

ACE inhibitors are without doubt amongst the most valuable cardiovascular drugs in current practice. Although not the subject of this article, their value in hypertension, heart failure and acute myocardial infarction is generally undoubted. However, despite the availability of an injectable preparation, the use of intravenous ACE inhibitors has not become widespread for perioperative hypertension. While reduction in systemic vascular resistance is a well observed phenomenon, blood pressure is usually well maintained and the efficacy of treatment as a means of controlling blood pressure is therefore unpredictable. [161,162]

2.7 Nitric Oxide Donors

Nitric oxide (NO) is a profoundly important substance in the control of vascular tone. An endogenous compound, it is normally secreted by the vascular endothelium in response to a number of stimuli that may activate receptors coupled to phospholipase C, which leads to an increase in inositol triphosphate in the cytosol. This results in an increase in calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum which, once linked to the binding protein calmodulin, activates NO synthetase and leads to the conversion of L-arginine to citrulline with the liberation of NO.

A number of drugs act as a source of NO promoting vasorelaxation. NO gas is given by inhalation, but it is rapidly scavenged by haemoglobin and is quickly deactivated, with a half-life of <1 minute. As a result, it causes selective pulmonary vasodilatation and is unsuitable for systemic blood pressure control.

Other intravenous drugs are suitable and are discussed in sections 2.7.1–2.7.2. These drugs are well established in clinical practice and so are covered in outline only.

2.7.1 Nitrites

Sodium nitroprusside is arguably the most effective vasodilator in both arterial and venous vasculature in clinical use, and is almost invariably effective provided steps are taken to control a reflex increase in heart rate. Simultaneous administration of a β -blocker is therefore commonplace. The efficacy of

sodium nitroprusside is suggested by the fact that it is the drug most commonly used as comparator for newer agents.

Sodium nitroprusside is a highly unstable molecule. It is light sensitive and susceptible to sunlight; hence, the formulation must be provided and administered using light-protected equipment. The molecule is broken down in erythrocytes with the consequent liberation of cyanide ions and NO, which acts on the vascular endothelium to produce vasorelaxation. The cyanide ions are converted in the liver by rhodonase to thiocyanate, a reaction dependent on a sulfur donor such as thiosulfate. Thiocyanate undergoes renal excretion, and the presence of thiosulfate or another sulfur donor is an important factor in preventing the build up of cyanide ions and cyanide toxicity. [163,164]

Sodium nitroprusside has a rapid onset and ultrashort duration of action. Its half-life is of the order of 2–4 minutes, although the metabolite thiocyanate has a half-life of several days. It is recommended that the duration of treatment should not exceed 72 hours, whereupon plasma thiocyanate concentrations should be monitored. In practice, the combination of sodium nitroprusside with other agents has meant that the problem of cyanide toxicity is not a problem in the perioperative patient.

Sodium nitroprusside causes a rapid reduction in tone in most vascular beds, including muscle, skin and the splanchnic circulation.^[122,137-139] Systemic pulmonary and coronary vascular resistance have all been shown to fall. In circumstances where resting vascular tone is high, a reduction may induce a significant increase in flow. Thus an increase in cerebral blood flow and hence in intracranial pressure may result.^[165] Sodium nitroprusside reduces overall coronary vascular resistance, and may therefore induce intracoronary steal; it is not an effective anti-ischaemic agent in angina.^[166]

2.7.2 Nitrates

In common with other nitrates, nitroglycerin must be de-nitrated in order to produce NO, the active component. A number of denitration mechanisms have been proposed, including reaction with sulfydryl groups, or dependent on the actions of

glutathione S transferase, cytochrome P450 and xanthine oxidoreductase. More recent evidence suggests that the conversion of nitroglycerin to 1,2 glyceryl dinitrate and NO is catalysed by mitochondrial aldehyde dehydrogenase. [167]

The primary use of nitroglycerin and other nitrates, including isosorbide mononitrate, is as antianginal agents. They are effective since they have a beneficial effect on coronary blood flow, via selective vasodilation of epicardial coronary arteries, and by venorelaxation and consequent reduction in left ventricular end-diastolic pressure and hence subendocardial compression. Myocardial demand is also reduced consequent on a reduction of left ventricular wall stress.^[167]

Nitrates, and in particular nitroglycerin, are commonly used for perioperative blood pressure control, particularly in the setting of cardiovascular surgery.[19,141] Stepwise increases in an intravenous infusion of nitroglycerin cause a reduction in venous tone and central venous pressure, with a gradual reduction in systemic pressure. Bolus doses, on the other hand, cause an immediate and significant reduction in arterial pressure. The greater effect on the venous side of the circulation may be a reflection of different background rates of NO production in the vascular endothelium of veins and arterioles. Comparative studies of nitroglycerin with other vasodilators have shown nitrates to be similarly effective, but in clinical practice, concomitant administration of either a β-blocker, or a drug with more direct effects on arteriolar tone, is necessary.

Hydralazine was previously used as oral treatment, for example in hypertension associated with pregnancy, but this is now less common. The untoward effects seen with long-term therapy, including a lupus like syndrome in <10% of patients, are not a feature of short-term intravenous use. The mechanism of action when given intravenously is not clear. Hyperpolarisation of muscle cells probably through the opening of potassium channels, inhibition of the release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum in smooth muscle, reduction in calcium stores in the sarcoplasmic reticulum, and stimulation of the formation of NO by the vascular endothelium have all

been implicated. Hydralazine has a relatively slow onset to peak effect and care must be taken with initial administration. It is effective in combination with other drugs, including nitroglycerin and β -blockers. Although primarily used in systemic hypertension, some have advocated its use in pulmonary hypertension also.

3. Future Issues: The Impact of Genomics

Previous studies have noted the relative genetic contribution to differences in both SBP and DBP levels between individuals. In one study of non-Hispanic Whites, the proportion of variation of SBP attributable to genetic differences was estimated to be 0.37, [168] with similar values reported for DBP level. [169]

Although single genes have been identified that may be responsible for several rare mendelian forms of hypertension,^[170] their low frequency in the general population diminishes their public health impact overall. More typically, blood pressure levels are controlled by a complex interaction of processes that influence cardiac output and systemic vascular resistance.[171,172] Since many physiological, biochemical and anatomical systems may be contributory, multiple genes may potentially be involved in influencing blood pressure in most individuals. These genetic influences may affect either vasopressor or vasorelaxant mechanisms, and the complexity of blood pressure regulation suggests that there is substantial genetic heterogeneity. Thus, the relationship between blood pressure and the genotype at relevant loci may not be common to different individuals.

Recent studies have demonstrated genetic linkages that potentially influence the blood pressure level, for example at the angiotensinogen gene locus, [173,174] with identification of variants that may contribute to essential hypertension; although this finding remains controversial. [173,175,176]

Currently, genome-wide linkage analyses are being undertaken to identify loci involved in the development of hypertension.^[177]

In addition to determining relationships between gene loci and the development of hypertension, there is also a relationship between the genome and the inter-individual variability in the efficacy of antihypertensive therapy. Traditionally, pharmacokinetic mechanisms that determine the blood and effector site concentrations, as well as absorption, distribution, excretion and metabolism have been found to be most influential. However, genetic variations may alter any of the proteins involved in any of these mechanisms and thus contribute to variations in drug response. Also, since genes may influence the controllers of the physiological determinants of blood pressure, they may affect the effectiveness of antihypertensive therapy. [178]

Although single-gene polymorphisms with large effects on drug metabolism have been identified, it is unlikely that these will be widely relevant to current antihypertensive drug therapy. Agents such as hydralazine, known to be metabolised predominantly by known polymorphic enzymes with large inter-individual differences in activity, are now rarely used. For most current antihypertensive drugs, pharmacodynamic mechanisms are more important in determining variation in blood pressure responses. The dose-response relationships for most modern antihypertensive drugs are flat and the magnitude of the blood pressure lowering effect is similar for drugs within a class, despite considerable differences in their pharmacokinetic properties. As a result, interest is turning to identifying genes that influence the pharmacodynamic determinants of blood pressure response.[178,179]

A number of interesting findings have been discovered. For example, the Gly460Trp polymorphism in humans with essential hypertension has been shown to affect the blood pressure response to diuretic treatment with furosemide or hydrochlorothiazide, [180,181] thus demonstrating how a gene that contributes to hypertension via a particular physiological mechanism, in this case by increased renal sodium reabsorption and volume expansion, can serve as a candidate gene to influence blood pressure response to an antihypertensive agent that targets this mechanism. A genome scanning ap-

proach may be more effective in yielding further information in the future.

As the genetic nature of each individual's susceptibility to hypertension is elucidated, so we may become clearer about which drugs alone or in combination may constitute effective therapy.

A third area of future study concerns our understanding of which patients are susceptible to organ damage as a result of hypertension. We could describe this as the genetic basis of risk assessment in the hypertensive patient. There has already been much work in this area and the impact of genes may be felt in a number of ways. First, genes may cause disease of a target organ independent of any effect on blood pressure. However, elevated blood pressure may simply aggravate or accelerate the effect of such genes on the primary disease process. Secondly, genes may directly influence blood pressure and elevated blood pressure may in turn directly contribute to the development of target-organ disease. Thirdly, genes may contribute to target-organ damage both through effects on blood pressure and via independent pathways separate from blood pressure.

Previously, our understanding has been that target-organ damage is linked to the level of chronic hypertension which, if adequately controlled, will restrict the development of target organ damage. However, recent data suggest that this relationship may not be so simple. Twin and family studies have estimated the heritability of the left ventricular mass as between 22% and 59%. [182,183] Genetic variation probably contributes to inter-individual differences in the left ventricular mass by virtue of effects on blood pressure as well as via pathways that are not captured by measurements of blood pressure.

Recently, a number of important studies have identified genetic susceptibility to adverse effects seen in high-risk surgery, including myocardial infarction, [184] sepsis, [185] stroke, [186] pro-inflammatory upregulation, [187] bleeding [188] and renal injury. [189] Given the nature of these adverse events, it is possible that many of the genetic variants involved may be associated with the development of hypertension also, and that in due course therapies may be development.

oped to target both the adverse event and also the effect on blood pressure.

4. Conclusions

Since there is no drug currently available that can be described as ideal, and given the heterogeneity of patients in whom perioperative blood pressure control is required, it is likely that a range of agents will continue to be needed, suited to different patients and in different settings. Thus, future pharmacological research is necessary but what direction will such research take?

Pharmacokinetic developments will continue to be important. The development of esmolol and clevidipine has clearly shown the value of drugs with a mechanism of inaction or metabolism that is ultra-fast. Where receptor interaction is variable, greater receptor specificity may be invaluable; the β_1 specificity of the ultra short-acting β -blocker landiolol^[190] and the dopaminergic receptor specificity of fenoldopam are examples of developments in this direction. Alternatively, a combination of effects, for example combined α - and β -blockade, β -blockade and calcium channel blockade, or PDE inhibition and β -blockade, are all attractive possibilities.

Novel mechanisms of action may be revealed as a consequence of our understanding of the genetic aetiology of hypertension, as described in section 3.

New drugs take years and cost millions of dollars to bring to the market. Thus, the agents of the near future are probably already under study.

The importance of cardiovascular drugs as a means of maximising cardioprotection in the perioperative period cannot be overemphasised. This has been a vital area of research over the last decade, and will continue to be so, fuelled inevitably by an increasingly sick and aged population undergoing elective surgery. Current evidence suggests that of the antihypertensive drugs, β -blockers, ACE inhibitors and α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists may have a significant role to play, although there is doubt about the long-term benefits of angiotensin-II receptor blockade. [191,192] Future studies with all these drugs should now concentrate on maximising benefit and

minimising adverse events in at-risk populations. Equally, it will be important to establish whether it is the sympatholytic nature of these drugs that accounts for their efficacy or whether, more specifically, blood pressure control is important. Current evidence would suggest that the former is more important in all but the most specialised surgical settings.

Finally, the impact of genomic research on future pharmacological research and development will be immense. The mapping of the human genome and subsequent research has improved our understanding of the genetic causes of hypertension, the genetic susceptibility to target-organ complications and the pharmacogenetics of antihypertensive therapy.

Acknowledgements

No financial support was received by the author with respect to this manuscript, and there are no conflicts of interest.

References

- Prys-Roberts C, Meloche R, Foex P. Studies of anaesthesia in relation to hypertension I: cardiovascular responses of treated and untreated patients. Br J Anaesth 1971; 43: 122-37
- Prys-Roberts C, Greene LT, Meloche R, et al. Studies of anaesthesia in relation to hypertension II: haemodynamic consequences of induction and endotracheal intubation. Br J Anaesth 1971; 43: 531-47
- Prys-Roberts C, Foex P, Biro GP, et al. Studies of anaesthesia in relation to hypertension V: adrenergic beta receptor blockade. Br J Anaesth 1973; 45: 671-81
- Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, et al. Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. Hypertension 2003; 42: 1206-52
- Vasan RS, Larson MG, Leip EP, et al. Impact of high-normal blood pressure on the risk of cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med 2001; 345: 1291-7
- Mann JF, Gerstein HC, Pogue J, et al. Renal insufficiency as a predictor of cardiovascular outcomes and the impact of ramipril: the HOPE randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2001; 134: 629-36
- Beddhu S, Allen-Brady K, Cheung AK, et al. Impact of renal failure on the risk of myocardial infarction and death. Kidney Int 2002; 62: 1776-83
- Landoni G, Zangrillo A, Franco A, et al. Long term outcome of patients who require renal replacement therapy after cardiac surgery. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2006 Jan; 23: 17-22
- Soltero ER, Petersen NJ, Earle NR, et al. Long term results of coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the impact of renal insufficiency and noncardiac vascular disease. J Card Fail 2005 Apr; 11: 206-12
- Thakar CV, Worley S, Arrigain S, et al. Influence of renal dysfunction on mortality after cardiac surgery: modifying ef-

- fect of preoperative renal function. Kidney Int 2005 Mar; 67: 1112-9
- Lee TH, Marcantario ER, Mangione CM, et al. Derivation and prospective validation of a simple index for prediction of cardiac risk of major noncardiac surgery. Circulation 1999 Sep 7; 100: 1043-9
- Kertai MD, Boersma E, Klein J, et al. Optimizing the prediction of perioperative mortality in vascular surgery by using a customized probability model. Arch Intern Med 2005 Apr 25; 165: 898-904
- Boersma E, Kertai MD, Schouten O, et al. Perioperative cardiovascular mortality in noncardiac surgery: validation of the Lee cardiac risk index. Am J Med 2005 Oct; 118: 1134-41
- Fitch W, Andrews P. Cerebral blood flow and its regulation: effects of anaesthesia. In: Prys-Roberts C, Brown BR, editors. International practice of anaesthesia. Vol. 1. Oxford: Butterworth Heinemann, 1996: chapter 87, 1-10
- Dagnino J, Prys-Roberts C. Hypertension, antihypertensive drugs, anaesthetic management of the hypertensive patient. In: Prys-Roberts C, Brown BR, editors. International practice of anaesthesia. Vol 1. Oxford: Butterworth Heinemann, 1996: chapter 38, 1-15
- Naughton C, Reilly N, Feneck R. Cardiac disease in the noncardiac surgical population: effect on survival. Br J Nursing 2005 Jul; 14: 718-24
- Maddox TM. Preoperative cardiovascular evaluation for noncardiac surgery. Mt Sinai J Med 2005 May; 72: 185-92
- Mukerjee D, Eagle KA. Perioperative cardiac assessment for non-cardiac surgery: eight steps to the best possible outcome. Circulation 2003 Jun; 107: 2771-4
- Vuylsteke A, Feneck RO, Joilin-Mellgard A, et al. Perioperative blood pressure control: a prospective survey of patient management in cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2000 Jun; 14: 269-73
- Aronson S, Boisvert D, Lapp W. Isolated systolic hypertension is associated with adverse outcomes from coronary artery bypass grafting surgery. Anesth Analg 2002 May; 94: 1079-84
- Levy JH, Michelsen L, Shanewise J, et al. Postoperative cardiovascular management. In: Kaplan JA, Reich D, Konstadt S, editors. Cardiac anaesthesia. 4th ed. Philadelphia (PA): WB Saunders, 1999: 1233-59
- Goldman L, Caldera DL. Risks of general anesthesia and elective operation in the hypertensive patient. Anesthesiology 1979; 50: 285-92
- Prys-Roberts C. Hypertension and anesthesia: fifty years on. Anesthesiology 1979; 50: 281-4
- Goldman L, Caldera DL, Southwick FS, et al. Cardiac risk factors and complications in non-cardiac surgery. Medicine (Balt) 1978 Jul; 57 (4): 357-70
- Goldman L, Caldera DL, Nussbaum SR, et al. Multifactorial index of cardiac risk in noncardiac surgical procedures. N Engl J Med 1977 Oct 20; 297 (16): 845-50
- Howell SJ, Sear JW, Foex P. Hypertension, hypertensive heart disease and perioperative cardiac risk. Br J Anaesth 2004 Apr; 92: 570-83
- Helvaci MR, Seyhanli M. What a high prevalence of white coat hypertension in society! Intern Med 2006 Oct; 45:671-4
- Celis H, Fagard RH. White coat hypertension: a clinical review. Eur J Intern Med 2004 Oct; 15: 348-57
- vonKnorring J. Postoperative myocardial infarction: a prospective study in a risk group of surgical patients. Surgery 1981;
 90: 55-60

- 30. Eagle KA, Berger PB, Calkins H, et al. ACC/AHA Guideline update for perioperative cardiovascular evaluation for noncardiac surgery: executive summary. A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee to Update the 1996 Guidelines on Perioperative Cardiovascular Evaluation for Noncardiac Surgery). Anesth Analg 2002 May; 94 (5): 1052-64
- Spahn DR, Priebe H-J. Preoperative hypertension: remain wary? 'Yes' cancel surgery? 'No'. Br J Anaesth 2004; 92: 461-4
- Casadei B, Abuzeid H. Is there a strong rationale for deferring elective surgery in patients with poorly controlled hypertension? J Hypertens 2005 Jan; 23: 19-22
- Bonora E. The metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease.
 Ann Med 2006; 38: 64-80
- Ahlquist RP. A study of adrenotropic receptors. Am J Physiol 1948; 153: 586-600
- Lands AM, Arnold A, McAuliff JP, et al. Differentiation of receptor systems activated by sympathomimetic amines. Nature 1967 May; 214: 597-8
- Langer SZ. 25 years since the discovery of presynaptic receptors; present knowledge and future perspectives. Trends Pharmacol Sci 1997; 18: 95-9
- Bylund D. Alpha-2 adrenoceptor subtypes: are more better? Br J Pharmacol 2005; 144: 159-60
- Schwinn DA, Caron MG, Leftkowitz RJ. The beta-adrenergic receptor as a model for molecular structure-function relationships in G-protein-coupled receptors. In: Fozzard HA, editor. The heart and cardiovascular system. 2nd ed. New York: Raven Press, 1992: 1657-84
- Matsui H, Lefkowitz RJ, Caron MG, et al. Localisation of the fourth membrane-spanning domain as a ligand binding site in the human platelet alpha-2 adrenergic receptor. Biochemistry 1989; 28: 4125-30
- Peden CJ, Prys-Roberts C. The alpha-2 adrenoceptor agonists and anaesthesia. In: Prys-Roberts C, Brown BR, editors. International practice of anaesthesia. Vol. 1. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann, 1999: chapter 19, 1-15
- Stafford-Smith M, Schwinn DA. Cellular biochemistry: receptors, signal transmission and second messengers. In: Prys-Roberts C, Brown BR, editors. International practice of anaesthesia. Vol. 1. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann, 1999: chapter 7, 1-22
- Scheinin M, Schwinn D. The locus coeruleus: site of hypnotic actions of alpha-2 adrenoceptor agonists? Anesthesiology 1992; 76: 873-5
- Regunathan S, Reis DJ. Imidazoline receptors and their endogenous ligands. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1996; 36: 511-44
- Hieble JP, Ruffolo Jr RR. Possible structural and functional relationships between imidazoline receptors and alpha-2 adrenoceptors. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995 Jul; 763: 8-21
- Fenton C, Keating GM, Lyseng-Williamson KA. Moxonidine: a review of its use in essential hypertension. Drugs 2006; 66 (4): 477-96
- Widimsky J, Sirotiakova J. Efficacy and tolerability of rilmenidine compared with isradipine in hypertensive patients with features of metabolic syndrome. Curr Med Res Opin 2006 Jul; 22 (7): 1287-94
- Nishina K, Mikawa K, Uesugi T, et al. Oral clonidine premedication reduces minimum alveolar concentration of sevoflurane for laryngeal mask airway insertion in children. Paediatr Anaesth 2006 Aug; 16: 834-9

- De Deyne C, Struys M, Heylen R, et al. Influence of intravenous clonidine pretreatment on anaesthetic requirements during bispectral EEG-guided sevoflurane anesthesia. J Clin Anesth 2000 Feb; 12: 52-7
- Inomata S, Yaaguchi Y, Toyooka H. The effects of clonidine premedication on sevoflurane requirements and anaesthetic induction time. Anesth Analg 1999 Jul; 89: 204-8
- Peden CJ, Cloote AH, Stratford N, et al. The effect of intravenous dexmedetomidine premedication on the dose requirement of propofol to induce loss of consciousness in patients receiving alfentanil. Anaesthesia 2001 May; 56: 408-13
- Khan ZP, Lucas MA, Newton DE, et al. Effects of dexmedetomidine on isoflurane requirements in healthy volunteers 2: auditory and somatosensory evoked responses. Br J Anaesth 1999 Sep; 83: 381-6
- Muzi M, Goff DR, Kampine JP, et al. Clonidine reduces sympathetic activity but maintains baroreflex responses in normotensive humans. Anesthesiology 1992 Nov; 77 (5): 864-71
- Wallace AW. Clonidine and modification of perioperative outcome. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2006 Aug; 19 (4): 411-7
- Wallace AW, Galindez D, Salahieh A, et al. Effect of clonidine on cardiovascular morbidity and mortality after noncardiac surgery. Anesthesiology 2004 Aug; 101 (2): 284-93
- Yin YC, Chow LH, Tsao CM, et al. Oral clonidine reduces myocardial ischemia in patients with coronary artery disease undergoing noncardiac surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Sin 2002 Dec; 40 (4): 197-203
- Wijeysundera DN, Naik JS, Beattie WS. Alpha-2 adrenergic agonists to prevent perioperative cardiovascular complications: a meta-analysis. Am J Med 2003 Jun 15; 114 (9): 742-52
- Virtanen R, Savola J-M, Saano V, et al. Characterisation of the selectivity, specificity and potency of medetomidine as an alpha-2 adrenoceptor agonist. Eur J Pharmacol 1988; 150: 9-14
- Venn RM, Bradshaw CJ, Spencer R, et al. Preliminary UK experience of dexmedetomidine, a novel agent for postoperative sedation in the intensive care unit. Anaesthesia 1999 Dec; 54 (12): 1136-42
- Venn M, Newman J, Grounds M. A phase II study to evaluate the efficacy of dexmedetomidine for sedation in the medical intensive care unit. Intensive Care Med 2003 Feb; 29 (2): 201-7
- Martin E, Ramsay G, Mantz J, et al. The role of the alpha2adrenoceptor agonist dexmedetomidine in postsurgical sedation in the intensive care unit. J Intensive Care Med 2003 Jan-Feb; 18 (1): 29-41
- Ishikawa S, Kugawa S, Neya K, et al. Hemodynamic effects of dexmedetomidine in patients after cardiac surgery. Minerva Chir 2006 Jun; 61 (3): 215-9
- Yildiz M, Tavlan A, Tuncer S, et al. Effect of dexmedetomidine on haemodynamic responses to laryngoscopy and intubation: perioperative haemodynamics and anaesthetic requirements. Drugs R D 2006; 7 (1): 43-52
- Oliver MF, Goldman L, Julian DG, et al. Effect of mivazerol on perioperative cardiac complications during non-cardiac surgery in patients with coronary heart disease: the European Mivazerol Trial (EMIT). Anesthesiology 1999 Oct; 91 (4): 951-61
- Aantaa R, Jalonen J. Perioperative use of alpha2-adrenoceptor agonists and the cardiac patient. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2006 May; 23 (5): 361-72
- McSPI Europe Research Group. Perioperative sympatholysis: beneficial effects of the alpha 2-adrenoceptor agonist mivazer-

- ol on hemodynamic stability and myocardial ischemia. Anesthesiology 1997 Feb; 86 (2): 346-63
- Voulgaropoulos D, Palmer CM. Local anaesthetic pharmacology. In: Prys-Roberts C, Brown BR, editor. International practice of anaesthesia. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann, 1999: chapter 2, 1-19
- Donatelli F, Tran D, Mistraletti G, et al. Epidural analgesia in the post-anaesthesia care unit. Curr Drug Targets 2005 Nov; 6 (7): 795-806
- Block BM, Liu SS, Rowlingson AJ, et al. Efficacy of postoperative epidural analgesia: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2004 Mar 10; 291 (10): 1197-8
- Flisberg P, Rudin A, Linner R, et al. Pain relief and safety after major surgery: a prospective study of epidural and intravenous analgesia in 2696 patients. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2003 Apr; 47 (4): 457-65
- Ready LB, Loper KA, Nessly M, et al. Postoperative epidural morphine is safe on surgical wards. Anesthesiology 1991 Sep; 75 (3): 452-6
- de Leon-Casasola OA, Parker B, Lema MJ, et al. Postoperative epidural bupivacaine-morphine therapy: experience with 4,227 surgical cancer patients. Anesthesiology 1994 Aug; 81 (2): 368-75
- Rodgers A, Walker N, Schug S, et al. Reduction of postoperative mortality and morbidity with epidural or spinal anaesthesia: results from overview of randomised trials. BMJ 2000; 321: 1493
- Bonnet F, Marret E. Influence of anaesthetic and analgesic techniques on outcome after surgery. Br J Anaesth 2005; 95 (1): 52-8
- Summers RJ, McMartin LR. Adrenoceptors and their second messenger systems. J Neurochem 1993 Jan; 60 (1): 10-23
- Williams DT, Dann S, Wheeler MH. Phaeochromocytoma: views on current management. Eur J Surg Oncol 2003 Aug; 29 (6): 483-90
- Bembo SA, Elimian A, Waltzer W, et al. Pheochromocytoma in a pregnant woman with a history of intracerebral aneurysms. Am J Med Sci 2005 Jun; 329 (6): 317-9
- Myklejord DJ. Undiagnosed pheochromocytoma: the anesthesiologist nightmare. Clin Med Res 2004 Feb; 2 (1): 59-62
- 78. Poulter NR, Wedel H, Dahlof B, et al. ASCOT Investigators. Role of blood pressure and other variables in the differential cardiovascular event rates noted in the Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial-Blood Pressure Lowering Arm (ASCOT-BPLA). Lancet 2005; 366 (9489): 907-13
- 79. Dahlof B, Sever PS, Poulter NR, et al. ASCOT Investigators. Prevention of cardiovascular events with an antihypertensive regimen of amlodipine adding perindopril as required versus atenolol adding bendroflumethiazide as required, in the Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial-Blood Pressure Lowering Arm (ASCOT-BPLA): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2005; 366 (9489): 895-906
- Mayor S. NICE removes beta blockers as first line treatment for hypertension. BMJ 2006; 333 (7557): 8
- Miller ED, Fleisher LA. Antihypertensive therapy. In: Kaplan JA, Reich D, Konstadt S, editors. Cardiac anaesthesia. 4th ed. Philadelphia (PA): WB Saunders, 1999: 161-77
- Katz JD, Croneau LH, Barash PG. Postoperative hypertension: a hazard of abrupt cessation of antihypertensive medication in the postoperative period. Am Heart J 1976; 92: 79-83
- Pasternack PF, Grossi EA, Baumann FG, et al. Beta blockade to decrease silent myocardial ischemia during peripheral vascular surgery. Am J Surg 1989; 158: 113-6

- Cooper TJ, Clutton-Brock TH, Jones SN, et al. Factors relating to the development of hypertension after cardiopulmonary bypass. Br Heart J 1985 Jul; 54 (1): 91-5
- Bradley D, Creswell LL, Hogue Jr CW, et al. Pharmacologic prophylaxis: American College of Chest Physicians guidelines for the prevention and management of postoperative atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery. Chest 2005 Aug; 128 (2 Suppl.): 39-47S
- DiDomenico RJ, Massad MG. Pharmacologic strategies for prevention of atrial fibrillation after open heart surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2005 Feb; 79 (2): 728-40
- Crystal E, Connolly SJ, Sleik K, et al. Interventions on prevention of postoperative atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing heart surgery: a meta-analysis. Circulation 2002 Jul 2; 106 (1): 75-80
- Amory DW, Grigore A, Amory JK, et al. Neuroprotection is associated with beta-adrenergic receptor antagonists during cardiac surgery: evidence from 2,575 patients. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2002 Jun; 16 (3): 270-7
- Poldermans D, Boersma E, Bax JJ, et al. The effect of bisoprolol on perioperative mortality and myocadial infarction in highrisk patients undergoing vascular surgery. N Engl J Med 1999; 341: 1789-94
- ten Broecke PW, De Hert SG, Mertens E, et al. Effect of preoperative beta-blockade on perioperative mortality in coronary surgery. Br J Anaesth 2003 Jan; 90 (1): 27-31
- Ferguson Jr TB, Coombs LP, Peterson ED. Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Adult Cardiac Surgery Database. Preoperative beta-blocker use and mortality and morbidity following CABG surgery in North America. JAMA 2002 May 1; 287 (17): 2221-7
- 92. Kertai MD, Boersma E, Westerhout CM, et al. A combination of statins and beta-blockers is independently associated with a reduction in the incidence of perioperative mortality and nonfatal myocardial infarction in patients undergoing abdominal aortic aneurysm surgery. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2004 Oct; 28 (4): 343-52
- Lindenauer PK, Pekow P, Wang K, et al. Perioperative betablocker therapy and mortality after major noncardiac surgery. N Engl J Med 2005 Jul 28; 353 (4): 349-61
- Auerbach AD, Goldman L. Beta-blockers and reduction of cardiac events in noncardiac surgery: scientific review. JAMA 2002 Mar 20; 287 (11): 1435-44
- Taylor RC, Pagliarello G. Prophylactic beta-blockade to prevent myocardial infarction perioperatively in high-risk patients who undergo general surgical procedures. Can J Surg 2003 Jun; 46 (3): 216-22
- Maggio PM, Taheri PA. Perioperative issues: myocardial ischemia and protection: beta-blockade. Surg Clin North Am 2005 Dec; 85 (6): 1091-102
- Wallace A, Layug B, Tateo I, et al. Prophylactic atenolol reduces postoperative myocardial ischemia. McSPI Research Group. Anesthesiology 1998 Jan; 88 (1): 7-17
- Devereaux PJ, Yusuf S, Yang H, et al. Are the recommendations to use perioperative beta blocker therapy in patients undergoing noncardiac surgery based on reliable evidence? CMAJ 2004; 171: 245-7
- Devereaux PJ, Beattie WS, Choi PT, et al. How strong is the evidence for the use of perioperative β-blockers in non cardiac surgery? Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2005; 331: 313-21
- Feringa HH, Bax JJ, Boersma E, et al. High-dose beta-blockers and tight heart rate control reduce myocardial ischemia and

- troponin T release in vascular surgery patients. Circulation 2006 Jul 4; 114 (1 Suppl.): I344-9
- 101. Poldermans D, Bax JJ, Boersma E, et al. Should major vascular surgery be delayed because of preoperative cardiac testing in intermediate-risk patients receiving beta blocker therapy with tight heart rate control? J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 48: 964-9
- Redelmeier D, Scales D, Kopp A. Beta blockers for elective surgery in elderly patients: population based, retrospective cohort study. BMJ 2005 Oct 22; 331 (7522): 932
- 103. Fleisher LA, Beckman JA, Brown KA, et al. ACC/AHA 2006 guideline update on perioperative cardiovascular evaluation for noncardiac surgery: focused update on perioperative beta-blocker therapy. A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Anesth Analg 2007 Jan; 104 (1): 15-26
- 104. Wiesbauer F, Schlager O, Domanovits H, et al. Perioperative beta-blockers for preventing surgery-related mortality and morbidity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Anesth Analg 2007 Jan; 104 (1): 27-41
- Fleisher LA. Perioperative beta-blockade: how best to translate evidence into practice. Anesth Analg 2007 Jan; 104 (1): 1-3
- 106. Schouten O, Bax JJ, Dunkelgrun M, et al. Pro: beta-blockers are indicated for patients at risk for cardiac complications undergoing noncardiac surgery. Anesth Analg 2007 Jan; 104 (1): 8-10
- London MJ. Con: beta-blockers are indicated for all adults at increased risk undergoing noncardiac surgery. Anesth Analg 2007 Jan; 104 (1): 11-4
- 108. Chauvin M, Deriaz H, Viars P. Continuous i.v. infusion of labetalol for postoperative hypertension: haemodynamic effects and plasma kinetics. Br J Anaesth 1987 Oct; 59 (10): 1250-6
- Sladen RN, Klamerus KJ, Swafford MW, et al. Labetalol for the control of elevated blood pressure following coronary artery bypass grafting. J Cardiothorac Anesth 1990 Apr; 4 (2): 210-21
- 110. Orlowski JP, Vidt DG, Walker S, et al. The hemodynamic effects of intravenous labetalol for postoperative hypertension. Cleve Clin J Med 1989 Jan-Feb; 56 (1): 29-34
- 111. Kirshenbaum JM, Kloner RA, Antman EM, et al. Use of an ultra short-acting beta-blocker in patients with acute myocardial ischemia. Circulation 1985 Oct; 72 (4): 873-80
- 112. Singh H, Vichitvejpaisal P, Gaines GY, et al. Comparative effects of lidocaine, esmolol, and nitroglycerin in modifying the hemodynamic response to laryngoscopy and intubation. J Clin Anesth 1995 Feb; 7 (1): 5-8
- 113. Sharma S, Mitra S, Grover VK, et al. Esmolol blunts the haemodynamic responses to tracheal intubation in treated hypertensive patients. Can J Anaesth 1996 Aug; 43 (8): 778-82
- 114. Pilli G, Guzeldemir ME, Bayhan N. Esmolol for hypotensive anesthesia in middle ear surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Belg 1996; 47 (2): 85-91
- 115. Tempe DK, Mulchandani P, Tandon MS, et al. Control of tachycardia and hypertension following coronary artery bypass graft surgery: efficacy and haemodynamic effects of esmolol. Indian Heart J 1999 May-Jun; 51 (3): 294-300
- Lim SH, Chin NM, Tai HY, et al. Prophylactic esmolol infusion for the control of cardiovascular responses to extubation after intracranial surgery. Ann Acad Med Singapore 2000 Jul; 29 (4): 447-51
- 117. Fuhrman TM, Ewell CL, Pippin WD, et al. Comparison of the efficacy of esmolol and alfentanil to attenuate the hemodynam-

- ic responses to emergence and extubation. J Clin Anesth 1992 Nov-Dec; 4 (6): 444-7
- Armanious S, Wong DT, Etchells E, et al. Successful implementation of perioperative beta-blockade utilizing a multidisciplinary approach. Can J Anaesth 2003 Feb; 50 (2): 131-6
- Brittain RT, Levy GP. A review of the animal pharmacology of labetolol, a combined alpha and beta adrenoceptor blocking drug. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1976; 3: 681-4
- Singh PP, Dimich I, Sampson I, et al. A comparison of esmolol and labetalol for the treatment of perioperative hypertension in geriatric ambulatory surgical patients. Can J Anaesth 1992 Jul; 39 (6): 559-62
- Goldberg ME, Cantillo J, Nemiroff MS, et al. Fenoldopam infusion for the treatment of postoperative hypertension. J Clin Anesth 1993 Sep-Oct; 5: 386-91
- 122. Hill AJ, Feneck RO, Walesby RK. A comparison of fenoldopam and nitroprusside in the control of hypertension following coronary artery surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 1993 Jun; 7: 279-84
- Gombotz H, Plaza J, Mahla E, et al. DA-1 receptor stimulation by fenoldopam in the treatment of postcardiac surgical hypertension. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1998 Aug; 42: 834-40
- Reisin E, Huth MM, Nguyen BP, et al. Intravenous fenoldopam versus sodium nitroprusside in patients with severe hypertension. Hypertension 1990 Feb; 15: 159-62
- 125. Shusterman NH, Elliott WJ, White WB. Fenoldopam, but not nitroprusside, improves renal function in severely hypertensive patients with impaired renal function. Am J Med 1993 Aug; 95: 161-8
- Elliott WJ, Weber RR, Nelson KS, et al. Renal and hemodynamic effects of intravenous fenoldopam versus nitroprusside in severe hypertension. Circulation 1990 Mar; 81: 970-7
- Aronson S, Goldberg LI, Glock D, et al. Effects of fenoldopam on renal blood flow and systemic hemodynamics during isoflurane anaesthsia. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 1991 Feb; 5: 29-32
- 128. Taylor AA, Shepherd AM, Polvino W, et al. Prolonged fenoldopam infusions in patients with mild to moderate hypertension: pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic effects. Am J Hypertens 1999 Sep; 12: 906-14
- 129. Brogden RN, Markham A. Fenoldopam: a review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties and intravenous clinical potential in the management of hypertensive urgencies and emergencies. Drugs 1997 Oct; 54 (4): 634-50
- 130. Oparil S, Aronson S, Deeb GM, et al. Fenoldopam: a new parenteral antihypertensive: consensus round table on the management of perioperative hypertension and hypertensive crises. Am J Hypertens 1999 Jul; 12: 653-64
- 131. Landoni G, Biondi-Zoccai GG, Tumlin JA, et al. Beneficial impact of fenoldopam in critically ill patients with or at risk for acute renal failure: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Am J Kidney Dis 2007 Jan; 49 (1): 56-68
- Brienza N, Malcangi V, Dalfino L, et al. A comparison between fenoldopam and low-dose dopamine in early renal dysfunction of critically ill patients. Crit Care Med 2006 Mar; 34 (3): 707-14
- 133. Bove T, Landoni G, Calabro MG, et al. Renoprotective action of fenoldopam in high-risk patients undergoing cardiac surgery: a prospective, double-blind, randomized clinical trial. Circulation 2005 Jun 21; 111 (24): 3230-5
- Durieux ME, Mounsey JP. Molecular cardiovascular medicine.
 In: Kaplan JA, Reich D, Konstadt S, editors. Cardiac anaesthesia. 4th ed. Philadelphia (PA): WB Saunders, 1999: 271-96

- 135. Snow V, Weiss KB, LeFevre M, et al. Management of newly detected atrial fibrillation: a clinical practice guideline from the American Academy of Family Physicians and the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med 2003 Dec 16; 139 (12): 1009-17
- Richard S. Vascular effects of calcium channel antagonists: new evidence. Drugs 2005; 65 Suppl. 2: 1-10
- Powroznyk AV, Vuylsteke A, Naughton C, et al. Comparison of clevedipine with sodium nitroprusside in the control of blood pressure after coronary artery surgery. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2003 Sep; 20: 697-703
- 138. Underwood SM, Davies SW, Feneck RO, et al. Comparison of isradipine with nitroprusside for control of blood pressure following myocardial revascularization: effects on hemodynamics, cardiac metabolism and coronary blood flow. J Cardiothor Vasc Anesth 1991 Aug; 5: 348-56
- Ruegg PC, David D, Loria Y. Isradipine for the treatment of hypertension following coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a randomized trial versus sodium nitroprusside. Eur J Anaesthesiol 1992 Jul; 9: 293-305
- 140. Kieler-Jensen N, Jolin-Mellgard A, Norlander M, et al. Coronary and systemic hemodynamic effects of clevedipine, an ultrashort acting calcium antagonist for treatment of hypertension after coronary artery surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2000 Feb; 44: 186-93
- 141. Levy JH. Management of systemic and pulmonary hypertension. Tex Heart Inst J 2005; 32: 467-71
- Begon C, Dartayet B, Edouard A, et al. Intravenous nicardipine for treatment of intraoperative hypertension during abdominal surgery. J Cardiothorac Anesth 1989 Dec; 3: 707-11
- 143. Nathan HJ, Laganiere S, Dube L, et al. Intravenous nifedipine to treat hypertension after coronary artery revascularisation surgery: a comparison with sodium nitroprusside. Anesth Anal 1992 Jun; 74: 809-17
- 144. Sitbon O, Humbert M, Jagot JL. Inhaled nitric oxide as a screening agent for safely identifying responders to oral calcium-channel blockers in primary pulmonary hypertension. Eur Respir J 1998 Aug; 12: 265-70
- 145. Sitbon O, Humbert M, Jais X, et al. Long term response to calcium channel blockers in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Circulation 2005 Jun; 111: 3105-11
- 146. DiDonato M, Maioli M, Venturi F, et al. Acute hemodynamic effects of intravenous diperdipine, a new dihydropyridine derivative, in coronary heart disease. Am Heart J 1991 Mar; 121: 776-81
- 147. Weksler N, Klein M, Szendro G, et al. The dilemma of immediate preoperative hypertension: to treat and operate, or to post-pone surgery? J Clin Anesth 2003 May; 15 (3): 179-83
- Varon J, Marik PE. The diagnosis and management of hypertensive crises. Chest 2000 Jul; 118 (1): 214-27
- 149. Grossman E, Messerli FH, Grodzicki T, et al. Should a moratorium be placed on sublingual nifedipine capsules given for hypertensive emergencies and pseudoemergencies? JAMA 1996; 276: 1328-31
- Talbert RL. The challenge of blood pressure management in neurologic emergencies. Pharmacotherapy 2006 Aug; 26: 123-130S
- Nordlander M, Sjoquist PO, Ericsson H. Pharmacodynamic, pharmacokinetic and clinical effects of clevidipine, an ultrashort-acting calcium antagonist for rapid blood pressure control. Cardiovasc Drug Rev 2004; 22 (3): 227-50

- Bailey JM, Lu W, Levy JH, et al. Clevidipine in adult cardiac surgical patients: a dose-finding study. Anesthesiology 2002 May; 96 (5): 1086-94
- Lincoln TM. Cyclic GMP and mechanisms of vasodilatation. Pharmacol Ther 1989; 41: 479-502
- 154. Feneck RO. Intravenous milrinone following cardiac surgery: II. Influence of baseline hemodynamics and patient factors on therapeutic response. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 1992 Oct; 6: 563-7
- 155. Eyraud D, Brabant S, Nathalie D, et al. Treatment of intraoperative refractory hypotension with terlipressin in patients chronically treated with an antagonist of the renin-angiotensin system. Anesth Analg 1999 May; 88 (5): 980-4
- Coriat P, Richer C, Douraki T, et al. Influence of chronic angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition on anesthetic induction. Anesthesiology 1994 Aug; 81 (2): 299-307
- 157. Bertrand M, Godet G, Meersschaert K, et al. Should the angiotensin II antagonists be discontinued before surgery? Anesth Analg 2001 Jan; 92 (1): 26-30
- Carrel T, Englberger L, Mohacsi P, et al. Low systemic vascular resistance after cardiopulmonary bypass: incidence, etiology, and clinical importance. J Card Surg 2000 Sep-Oct; 15 (5): 347-53
- 159. Pigott DW, Nagle C, Allman K, et al. Effect of omitting regular ACE inhibitor medication before cardiac surgery on haemodynamic variables and vasoactive drug requirements. Br J Anaesth 1999 Nov; 83 (5): 715-20
- 160. Devbhandari MP, Balasubramanian SK, Codispoti M, et al. Preoperative angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition can cause severe post CPB vasodilation: current UK opinion. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann 2004 Dec; 12 (4): 346-9
- Turker H, Donmez A, Zeyneloglu P, et al. Effects of enalaprilat infusion on hemodynamics and renal function in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Anadolu Kardiyol Derg 2004 Dec; 4 (4): 296-300
- 162. Schuetz WH, Lindner KH, Georgieff M, et al. The effect of i.v. enalaprilat in chronically treated hypertensive patients during cardiac surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1998 Sep; 42 (8): 929-35
- Vesey CJ, Cole PV. Blood cyanide and thiocyanate concentrations produced by long-term therapy with sodium nitroprusside. Br J Anaesth 1985 Feb; 57 (2): 148-55
- 164. Vesey CJ, Cole PV, Simpson PJ. Cyanide and thiocyanate concentrations following sodium nitroprusside infusion in man. Br J Anaesth 1976 Jul; 48 (7): 651-60
- 165. Marsh MLK, Shapiro HM, Smith RW, et al. Changes in neurologic status and intracranial pressure associated with sodium nitroprusside administration. Anaesthesiology 1979; 51: 336-8
- 166. Mann T, Cohn PF, Holman LB, et al. Effect of nitroprusside on regional myocardial blood flow in coronary artery disease. Results in 25 patients and comparison with nitroglycerin. Circulation 1978 Apr; 57 (4): 732-8
- 167. Royster RL, Zvara DA. Anti-ischemic drug therapy. In: Kaplan JA, Reich D, Konstadt S, et al., editors. Cardiac Anesthesia. 4th ed. Philadelphia (PA): WB Saunders, 1999: 95-130
- 168. Perusse L, Moll P, Sing C. Evidence that a single gene with gender- and age-dependent effects influences BP determination in a population-based sample. Am J Human Genet 1991; 49: 94-105
- 169. Ward R. Familial aggregation and genetic epidemiology of blood pressure. In: Laragh J, Brenner B, editors. Hypertension: pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management. New York: Raven Press, 1995: 67-88

- Lifton R. Molecular genetics of human blood pressure variation. Science 1996; 272: 676-80
- 171. Ferrannini E. Metabolic abnormalities of hypertension: a lesson in complexity. Hypertension 1991; 18: 636-9
- 172. Guyton A. BP control: special role of the kidneys and body fluids. Science 1991; 252: 1813-6
- 173. Jeunemaitre X, Soubrier F, Kotelevtsev Y, et al. Molecular basis of human hypertension: role of angiotensinogen. Cell 1992; 71: 169-80
- 174. Caulfield M, Lavender P, Farrall M, et al. Linkage of the angiotensinogen gene to essential hypertension. N Engl J Med 1994; 330: 1629-33
- Jeunemaitre X, Charru A, Chatellier G, et al. M235T variant of the human angiotensinogen gene in unselected hypertensive patients. J Hypertens 1993; 11: S80-1
- 176. Fornage M, Turner ST, Sing CF, et al. Variation at the M235T locus of the angiotensinogen gene and essential hypertension: a population-based case-control study from Rochester, Minnesota. Hum Genet 1995; 96: 295-300
- 177. Krushkal J, Xiong M, Ferrell R, et al. Linkage and association of adrenergic and dopamine receptor genes in the distal portion of the long arm of chromosome 5 with systolic blood pressure variation. Hum Mol Genet 1998; 7: 1379-83
- Bianchi G, Swales J. Do we need more anti-hypertensive drugs?
 Lessons from the new biology. Lancet 1995; 345: 1555-7
- 179. Ferrari P. Pharmacogenomics: a new approach to individual therapy of hypertension? Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 1998; 7: 217-22
- Cusi D, Barlassina C, Azzani T, et al. Polymorphisms of aadducin and salt sensitivity in patients with essential hypertension. Lancet 1997; 349: 1353-7
- 181. Glorioso N, Manunta P, Filigheddu F, et al. The role of α-adducin polymorphism in blood pressure and sodium handling regulation may not be excluded by a negative association study. Hypertension 1999; 34: 649-54
- 182. Post W, Larson M, Myers R, et al. The heritability of left ventricular mass: the Framingham Heart Study. Hypertension 1997; 30: 1025-8
- Harshfield G, Grim C, Hwang C, et al. Genetic and environmental influences on echocardiographically determined left ventricular mass in black twins. Am J Hypertens 1990; 3: 538-43
- 184. Podgoreanu MV, White WD, Morris RW, et al. Perioperative Genetics and Safety Outcomes Study (PEGASUS) Investiga-

- tive Team. Inflammatory gene polymorphisms and risk of postoperative myocardial infarction after cardiac surgery. Circulation 2006 Jul; 114 (1 Suppl.): I275-81
- 185. Moretti EW, Morris RW, Podgoreanu M, et al. Perioperative Genetics and Safety Outcomes Study (PEGASUS) Investigative Team. APOE polymorphism is associated with risk of severe sepsis in surgical patients. Crit Care Med 2005 Nov; 33 (11): 2521-6
- 186. Grocott HP, White WD, Morris RW, et al. Perioperative Genetics and Safety Outcomes Study (PEGASUS) Investigative Team. Genetic polymorphisms and the risk of stroke after cardiac surgery. Stroke 2005 Sep; 36 (9): 1854-8
- 187. Podgoreanu MV, Michelotti GA, Sato Y, et al. Differential cardiac gene expression during cardiopulmonary bypass: ischemia-independent upregulation of proinflammatory genes. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005 Aug; 130 (2): 330-9
- 188. Welsby IJ, Podgoreanu MV, Phillips-Bute B, et al. Perioperative Genetics and Safety Outcomes Study (PEGASUS) Investigative Team. Genetic factors contribute to bleeding after cardiac surgery. J Thromb Haemost 2005 Jun; 3 (6): 1206-12
- 189. Stafford-Smith M, Podgoreanu M, Swaminathan M, et al. Perioperative Genetics and Safety Outcomes Study (PEGASUS) Investigative Team. Association of genetic polymorphisms with risk of renal injury after coronary bypass graft surgery. Am J Kidney Dis 2005 Mar; 45 (3): 519-30
- 190. Sugiura S, Seki S, Hideka K, et al. The hemodynamic effects of landiolol, an ultra short acting beta-1 selective blocker, on endotracheal intubation in patients with and without hypertension. Anesth Analg 2007; 104: 124-9
- 191. Maggioni AP. Efficacy of angiotensin receptor blockers in cardiovascular disease. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. Epub 2006 Aug 21
- Grossman E, Messerli FH. Long-term safety of antihypertensive therapy. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2006 Jul-Aug; 49 (1): 16-25

Correspondence: Dr *Robert Feneck*, Department of Anaesthesia, Guys and St Thomas' Hospitals, London, SE1 7EH, England.

E-mail: rob_feneck@msn.com